
 
 

 
Regular Meeting 

Monday, November 1, 2021 
6:00 pm 

Chowan County Public Safety Center 
305 West Freemason Street 

 
This meeting was recorded. A copy of the recording is in the meeting file labeled November 1, 
2021. 

 
Present Chair Bob Kirby, Commissioners, Chris Evans, Tray Taylor, Larry McLaughlin, Ron 
Cummings, Alex Kehayes and Ellis Lawrence. 
 
Staff present County Manager Kevin Howard, Finance Officer Cathy Smith,  Clerk Susanne 
Stallings and County Attorney Lauren Arizaga-Womble. 
 
Regular Meeting 
Chair Kirby called the regular meeting to order and led all in the pledge of allegiance. 
 
Commissioner McLaughlin then offered the invocation. 
 
Approval of Agenda  
Board Clerk Susanne Stallings noted a request to amend the agenda to add items 7a – Courthouse 
Architect proposal, 7b – RFQ 2nd Floor Old DF Walker and 7c – Personnel hire for Tax Office. 
 
Commissioner McLaughlin moved to approve the agenda as amended. Chair Kirby asked for all 
in favor, the motion passed unanimously (7-0). 
 
Public Comment 
Chair Kirby then opened the floor for public comment. 
 
Harriett DeHart 112 Horniblow Point Road Edenton noted that she was having a hard time 
hearing the Board. The Clerk adjusted the speaker volume. 
 
Consent Agenda 

 
a. Approval of Minutes 

The Board will review and consider approval of the minutes of the October 4, 2021 
special and regular meetings and October 18, 2021 regular meeting. 
 

b. Tax Refund/Release Report 
Hoskins, R.  $6,799.29 Present Use Value Appeal  
IBX Prop  $785.96 Present Use Value Appeal 
Wright, A.  $1,459.58 Clerical Error 
Hobbs, M.C.  $4,914.86 Present Use Value Appeal 
Hollowell, J.  $3,669.43 Present Use Value Appeal 



Daedalus Comp $142.82 Audit determined items are not on site 
Goodwin, C.  $410.76 Present Use Value Appeal 
Eure, S.  $3,014.29 Present Use Value Appeal 

 
Ms. Stallings noted corrections to the minutes of October 4th and October 18th.  
 
Commissioner Cummings moved to approve the consent agenda as amended. Chair Kirby asked 
for all in favor, the motion passed unanimously (7-0). 

 
COA Presentation 
COA Board of Trustee Chair and Chowan County representative on the COA Board, Patti 
Kersey thanked the Board for the opportunity to present an update from COA she then called on 
the COA President Dr. Bagwell. 
 
COA President Dr. Bagwell provided the Board with a PowerPoint update from COA.  Dean 
Edenton-Chowan Campus Administrator Robin Zinsmeister updated the Board on the Edenton 
campus programs and initiatives. And introduced Instructor Scott Breon for information on the 
Truck Driver Training Program. 
 
A copy of the PowerPoint and handouts are in the meeting file labeled November 1, 2021. 
 
Schedule of Values Public Hearing 
Commissioner Cummings moved to go into public hearing for the Schedule of Values. Chair 
Kirby asked for all in favor, the motion passed unanimously (7-0). 
 
Ms. Stallings noted that there was nobody signed up for public comment. Chair Kirby asked if 
anyone in the audience wished to comment, there was none. 
 
Tax Administrator Melissa Radke noted that she presented the Board with the proposed Schedule 
of Values for the Chowan County 2022 Property Tax Reappraisal at the October 4, 2021 
meeting.  
 
Ryan Vincent with Vincent Valuations who is preparing the full reappraisal provided the Board 
with a summary on how his company prepared the revaluation.  He stated that all properties in 
the County were visited and measured.  He stated that sales have been analyzed and models 
prepared. He noted that the proposed schedules, standards and rules have been available for 
public review and comment.  
 
Commissioner McLaughlin stated he felt the document was a great guide and outline. 
 
Mr. Vincent stated that if there are any public questions or if the Board wanted more information 
he would be available to go over the schedule. He stated that additionally he will be reaching out 
and making presentations to local groups on the revaluation. 
 
Chair Kirby asked when the notices will go out. 
 
Ms. Radke stated that it will be February or March. 
 



Chair Kirby stated he recommended that the Tax Office reach out to as many local groups or 
organizations as possible before the new valuations go out to explain why values have increased 
or decreased.  He asked for clarification on the schedule for rentals. 
 
Mr. Vincent stated that section did not have a lot of data because it is a small community he 
stated that some of the model was based on the shopping center CVS rental. He stated that 
information will be gathered in the appeal noting many people are hesitant to show their income. 
 
Commissioner Cummings stated he made some notes in his book but would get with the Tax 
Administrator to get answers to his questions. 
 
Chair Kirby stated that he felt the overall presentation was very thorough and enlightening. He 
asked Mr. Vincent how long he has been doing this. 
 
Mr. Vincent stated about 15 years. 
 
Ms. Radke discussed her goal to keep this process transparent. 
 
Commissioner Cummings moved to come out of public hearing. Chair Kirby asked for all in 
favor, the motion passed unanimously (7-0). 
 
Commissioner McLaughlin moved to adopt the schedule of values as presented. Chair Kirby 
asked for all in favor, the motion passed unanimously (7-0). 
 
Redistricting Public Hearing 
Commissioner Lawrence moved to open the floor for the public hearing. Chair Kirby asked for 
all in favor, the motion passed unanimously (7-0). 
 
Chair Kirby then opened the floor for public comment. 
 
Darnell White 411 North Oakum Street Edenton stated that she has been a resident of Chowan 
County for all of her life.  She stated she is president of the NAACP and Elks and was present 
with some of her neighbors who reside in District 3.  She thanked the County Manager for taking 
time to meet with her and her neighbors over the weekend however she was concerned with his 
comments regarding the process for the census counts which she stated he told the group were 
done by drive by methods. She stated she was aware many of her neighbors were not counted in 
the Census because they have indicated that they were not given the opportunity to participate. 
She stated she didn’t feel the census counts were a fair representation of the districts and she 
urged the Board to not approve the redistricting because of the inaccuracy in the census counts. 
 
ZB Wood was signed up to speak but not in the meeting room when called by the clerk. 
 
John Shannon, 214 West Church Street and pastor of Providence Missionary Baptist Church 
stated he participated in the meeting over the weekend with the County Manager.  He stated his 
concern that he shared were the numbers in some of the census blocks were exaggerated. He 
stated that the County Manager gave the group good information on what is required for the 
redistricting. He sated his concern is with representation and the numbers in the census data.  He 
stated he desires to see the whole county represented. 



 
No others signed up to speak. 
 
Mr. Howard then presented the proposed redistricting maps to the Board. A copy of the proposed 
maps and data are in the meeting file labeled November 1, 2021. 
 
Mr. Howard noted the following highlights from the presentation: 
 

- The 2020 Census data revealed that Districts 1, 2, and 3 were no longer equal within 5% 
of the Chowan's total population. 

 
- The current size of the district populations are: 

 D1 = 4,637, or 33.83% of total pop. 
 D2 = 4,974, or 36.29% of total pop. 
 D3 = 4,097, or 29.89% of total pop. 
 

- District 3 is over 6% smaller than District 2 in total population. With this proposal, 340 
people that formerly resided in District 2 would now be a part of District 3. The numbers 
would then read: 

 D1 = 4,637, or 33.83% of total pop. 
 D2 = 4,634, or 33.81% of total pop. 
 D3 = 4,437, or 32.37% of total pop. 
 This would result in much more consistent district sizes. 
 

- These particular census blocks were chosen for the purpose of maintaining District 3 as a 
minority-majority district, which should maintain a 55% or greater African American 
Population. 

 
- This proposal would actually increase the African American percentage in D3 from what 

it is currently: 
 District 3 A.A. % after 2020 Census = 57.31% 
 District 3 A.A. % after this proposal = 58.01% 
  

- The percentage of African American respondents in 2010 was 59.53%, so while it will 
still decrease some, it will be less of a loss. 
 

- It should be noted that much of the land in the proposed addition to D3 (and subtraction 
from D2) is vacant and/or farmland, with no people residing on it. The area is larger due 
to the Census Block lines determined by the Census Bureau. Thus, the final district lines 
may not need to look exactly like these lines in the proposal, as they were drawn from the 
census blocks. If the law allows, the lines could possibly be drawn to include those 
homes being switched, while being made less to look like D3's total area is increasing 
dramatically. For the purposes of this map, however, the proposed lines-to-be changed 
follow the census block lines to include the numbers desired. 
 

Mr. Howard stated that the County is to take the data given from the Census and present 
something to the State that meets the minority majority population requirement for one of its 
districts. He stated that since the meeting he had with the group on Saturday he has done some 



research and the County can challenge the census data but that opportunity is not open until 
January.  He stated this could not be done before the primary. 
 
Commissioner McLaughlin asked how the Board would know if the Census data was inaccurate. 
 
Mr. Howard stated the responsibility would be the County’s to prove the data is inaccurate.  He 
stated that after to talking to other Counties he is unsure how to quantify this however with 
regards to redistricting a decision has to be made by November 17th for the spring election. He 
stated that in January the Board could send information to the Census to appeal the count. 
 
Commissioner Kehayes asked if it is known if there is enough discrepancy with the data to 
change the outcome of the redistricting. 
 
Mr. Howard stated that the total population change was 1,000 people.  
 
Commissioner Lawrence stated that if there is any inaccuracy in the data why would the County 
redraw the maps? He sated that if there are people stating they were not counted he stated he 
could not see why redraw the maps. 
 
Mr. Howard stated that there is no choice for the County because the opportunity to challenge 
the data has not come. He sated that the law requires that the people be moved to maintain a 
majority minority district in the County.  He stated the law also says the County has to rely on 
the Census data.  
 
Commissioner Lawrence stated he can count 78 people in District 2 that did not fill out the 
census. 
 
Mr. Howard stated that he explained the process for the census was to mail a form to each 
residence. If the form was not completed then a census worker visited the home. If there was 
nobody home or if the resident was unwilling to complete the census then the worker would 
interview neighbors to get the information on the home. 
 
Commissioner Lawrence requested that the Board Clerk read a statement into the record on his 
behalf. 
 
Ms. Stallings read the following statement submitted by Commissioner Lawrence: 
 

Request to the Chowan County Board of Commissioners 
Per Meeting to Discuss Proposed Redistricting Maps 

Saturday, October 30, 2021 @ 6:00 p.m. 
Chowan County Public Safety Building 

Members of the Black Community met with Chowan County Manager, Kevin Howard, to discuss 
the Redistricting Map that was developed as a result of the report from the 2020 Census.  In our 
discussion, there were concerns about the accuracy of the numbers for the districts, especially 
District 3.  
 
We understood that the original map (10 years) was drawn to ensure black representation. 
According to the County Manager, the new map was drawn to fulfill the guidelines from the 



Federal government and/or Census Bureau.  There are concerns about the way the data was 
collected and the figures displayed on the map. 
 
There are too many instances in which the number of people in the census block 
reported on the proposed “Redistricting Map” are not accurately recorded.  
 
FURTHERMORE, residents in these census blocks cannot account for the numbers indicated on 
the maps. There were people in this meeting, who did not remember receiving or completing a 
census form in 2020. The County Manager acknowledged that in some instance’s estimates were 
derived from “driving by” residences rather than interviewing actual residents of a house or 
building. In those instances, no attempt was made to verify information required for the 2020 
Census. 
 
When the census information for District 1 is compared to Districts 2 and 3, a large percent of 
people completed the census.  Because the census was not completed in a district, does not mean 
that people did not exist but that the census was not completed. Persons in attendance wanted to 
know how the current inaccurate data could be corrected.  The response was that it would take 
too much money and time for the county to complete the census again.   
 
We believe you will agree: 
 

1. If the way the data is collected is not the same for all districts, then it is impossible to 
draw the conclusion to redraw the map in one and not all. 

2. If the data collection process is flawed, then the analysis is incorrect. 
3. The proposed changes are therefore based on inaccurate data. 

 
Therefore, we ask the Chowan County Board of Commissioners to not approve the proposed 
“REDISTRICTING” map as submitted by the County Manager. We respectfully request that the 
Chowan County Board of Commissioners instruct Chowan County Manager, Kevin Howard, to 
correct and verify data required for an accurate representation of persons residing in Chowan 
County. We, your constituents, cannot agree with the current Redistricting Map that the County 
Manager has presented to the County Commissioners for consideration and approval. 
 
Board members asked for clarification of who this letter is on behalf of, the following groups 
were listed by participants as being represented at the meeting: 

- The Democratic Party 
- NAACP 
- Reconciliation Group 
- Edenton DF Walker High School Alumni Association 
- Fannie A. Parker Women’s Club 
- Human Relations Committee 
- Rev. John Shannon, pastor of Providence Missionary Baptist Church 

 
Mr. Howard stated that there may be a misconception of his description of the Census process. 
He stated that forms were hand delivered, then a visit to the house and if no success a visit to the 
neighbor is made. 
 



Chair Kirby stated he would like for the record to reflect the manager did not state the Census 
people drove by as part of the County. 
 
Dr. Lawrence requested that sentence of his statement be struck through. 
 
Commissioner McLaughlin discussed the process for counting bi-racial children where there are 
blended races. 
 
Commissioner Kehayes stated that if the feds require the county to have a majority minority 
district, and they give the County the census numbers to make the determination he stated that if 
the County doesn’t like the results they are still required to proceed with the redistricting and 
complain later. 
 
Commissioner Evans agreed the Board is bound to pass the redistricting. 
 
Mr. Howard stated that the goal of the proposed map was to have the least amount of changes to 
the districts. 
 
Commissioner Evans moved to close the public hearing. Chair Kirby asked for all in favor, the 
motion passed unanimously (7-0). 
 
Commissioner Evans moved to adopt the redistricting maps as presented. Chair Kirby asked for 
all in favor, the motion passed (5-2 Taylor and Lawrence). 
 
DSS Items 
DSS Director Christine Dowdell presented the Board with the following: 
 
Contract with Dr. Amy James 
The Board will consider a request to enter into contract with Dr. Amy James to complete parent 
capacity evaluations and other mental health services for youth in agency custody. Additionally, 
Dr. James will provide services to the parents or caregivers of the youth. 
BA2022-020 is also included for consideration. 
 
County Attorney Lauren Arizaga-Womble noted she serves as the DSS Attorney. She stated that 
contract for these services is not new it is however an increase. 
 
Chair Kirby asked for Commissioner Kehayes thoughts on the contract as he serves as the DSS 
Board member. 
 
Commissioner Kehayes stated this was not a large amount. 
 
Ms. Dowdell noted that a budget amendment for the overall expenses to the County for the 
increased caseload is forthcoming noting this is just a part of the request.’ 
 
Mr. Howard stated he will work with Ms. Dowdell and bring this back to the Board for their 
consideration. 
 



Chair Kirby recommended that Commissioner Kehayes be included in those discussions. He 
asked if neighboring Counties are seeing the increased caseloads as well. 
 
Ms. Womble stated that the DSS Directors meet monthly as well as she communicates with area 
attorneys on DSS cases and she agrees the cases are up across the area. 
 
Chair Kirby stated that if the case loads are up he would recommend sending a resolution to the 
General Assembly requesting additional funds for CPS and APS cases. He stated he would ask 
the clerk to draft a resolution for a future meeting. 
 
Commissioner Lawrence moved to approve the contract with Amy James as presented. Chair 
Kirby asked for all in favor, the motion passed unanimously (7-0). 
 
Contract with Phillip Lassiter 
The Board will consider a contract with Phillip Lassiter to provide consultation services to assist 
the agency in meeting financial goals. 
BA2022-021 is also attached for your consideration. 
 
Chair Kirby discussed DSS staffing and asked if there is a matrix to measure the success of this 
type of contract. 
 
Ms. Dowdell discussed previous budget requests included increases and she was asked to reduce 
the line items with the understanding that if there were unforeseen increases she would be 
allowed to bring them back to the Board for consideration. She explained the procedures she has 
in place to reduce DSS expenses such as herself providing training in house. 
 
Commissioner McLaughlin discussed the Covid monies provided to DSS and asked what they 
were used for. 
 
Ms. Dowdell noted these monies were specifically to be used for ppe and cleaning. 
 
Ms. Smith noted that DSS used a minimal amount of Covid monies and the use of the funds was 
specific to certain items. 
 
Commissioner Lawrence moved to approve the contract with Phillip Lassiter as presented. Chair 
Kirby asked for all in favor, the motion passed (6-1 Kirby). 
 
Budget Amendments 
 
Commissioner McLaughlin moved to approve BA-2022-020. Chair Kirby asked for all in favor, 
the motion passed unanimously (7-0). 
 



 
 
Commissioner McLaughlin moved to approve BA-2022-021. Chair Kirby asked for all in favor, 
the motion passed (6-1 Kirby). 
 

 
 
 
JKF Proposal – Courthouse Assessment 
Mr. Howard presented the Board with a proposal from JKF to provide an assessment for the 
proposed courthouse project.  He stated the costs for the assessment would be paid with CIP 
monies in the amount of $19,505. 
 
Commissioner McLaughlin moved to approve the contract as presented. Chair Kirby asked for 
all in favor, the motion passed unanimously (7-0). 
 
Chair Kirby called for a five minute recess, after five minutes he called the meeting back to 
order. 

Salaries - Regular (10,000.00)           
Professional Services 10,000.00             

Balanced -                           -                         

Justification:

To amend the 2022 budget for DSS to include professional services from 
Dr. Amy James.  Monies are being transferred between line items, no 

additional funding requested.

DSS
12-5310-121-00
12-5310-199-00

Account Number Account Description
 Revenue 

(Inc+/Dec-) 
 Expense 

(Inc+/Dec-) 

Salaries - Regular (2,500.00)             
Professional Services 2,500.00               

Balanced -                           -                         

Justification:
To amend the 2022 budget for DSS to include professional services from 
Phillip Lassiter, former Local Business Liasion with NCDHHS.  Mr. Lassiter 

will provide consulting services to assist agency in meeting financial 
goals.  Monies are being transferred between line items, no additional 

funding requested.

DSS
12-5310-121-00
12-5310-199-00

Account Number Account Description
 Revenue 

(Inc+/Dec-) 
 Expense 

(Inc+/Dec-) 



 
RFQ Architectural Services – 2nd Floor Renovations at the former DF Walker Highschool 
Mr. Howard provided the Board with a draft RFQ for architectural services for the proposed 2nd 
floor renovations at the former DF Walker High School.  He stated that the design and project 
would be controlled by the County. He stated that once the proposals are received he will bring a 
recommendation to the Board on who to hire. 
 
Commissioner McLaughlin moved to approve the RFQ as presented. Chair Kirby asked for all in 
favor, the motion passed unanimously (7-0). 
 
Tax Office Salary Request 
Commissioner Cummings moved to approve the Tax Administrator to hire of a delinquent tax 
clerk at the salary of $30,532. Chair Kirby asked for all in favor, the motion passed unanimously 
(7-0) 

Financial Items 
Budget Amendments 
BA2022-016 

 
 
BA2022-017 

Transfer from Capital Reserve Fund 65,700.00               
DF Walker Gym HVAC Replacement 65,700.00             

Fund Balance Appropriation 65,700.00               
Transfer to Capital Project Fund 65,700.00             

Balanced 131,400.00            131,400.00          

Justification:

Account Number Account Description
 Revenue 

(Inc+/Dec-) 
 Expense 

(Inc+/Dec-) 

Capital Projects Fund
32-3810-033-00
32-8100-456-00

Capital Reserve Fund
33-3990-990-00
33-9800-980-32

To amend the 2022 budget for Capital Project Fund to include HVAC 
replacement at former DF Walker Gym.  Project was approved at BOC 

meeting dated 10/18/21 and will be funded by the Capital Reserve Fund.



 

*Preservation/Automation 867.38                     
*Dept Supplies - Auto/Pres 289.12                   
*Contr Svcs - Automation/Pres 289.13                   
*C/O - Auto / Pres 289.13                   

*Safe Kids Program 2,785.90                 
*Safe Kids Expense 2,785.90               

*Donations - Chowan 1,195.00                 
*Donations - Gates 40.00                       
*Donations - Perquimans 70.00                       
*Donations - Other 520.00                     
*Donation - Expense 1,825.00               
*Adoption - Other 380.00                     
*Contr Svcs - Spay/Neuter 380.00                   
*A.W.A.R.E. Reimbursement 3,370.68                 
*A.W.A.R.E. Reimbursement 3,370.68               

*4H United Way 1,026.77                 
*4H United Way 1,026.77               
*4-H Fees Discretionary 5,240.00                 
*4-H Fees Discretionary 5,240.00               
*Livestock Program 16,345.00               
*Livestock Program 16,345.00             

*Donations - Home Del Meals 25.00                       
*Donations - Home Del Meals 25.00                     
*Reg Fees - Trips 5,089.00                 
*TRIPS - Senior Citizens 5,089.00               
*Registration Fees Activities 125.25                     
*Activities - Dept. Supplies 125.25                   
*Healthways 474.00                     
*Healthways 474.00                   

Balanced 37,553.98               37,553.98             

Total Discretionary Income Received FYE 2022 80,131.69               

Justification:

Account Number Account Description
 Revenue 

(Inc+/Dec-) 
 Expense 

(Inc+/Dec-) 

Sheriff's Office

Register of Deeds
11-3418-415-00
11-4180-298-00
11-4180-440-00
11-4180-511-00

11-3431-245-00
11-4317-445-00

Animal Shelter
11-3438-894-00

11-3438-895-03
11-4381-441-00
11-3438-897-00
11-4381-601-00

11-3438-894-01
11-3438-894-02
11-3438-894-03
11-4381-600-00

Cooperative Ext:

11-3495-379-00
11-4953-449-00

11-3495-372-00
11-4953-445-00
11-3495-378-00
11-4953-448-00

11-3616-533-01
11-4268-299-01
11-3616-535-03
11-4268-352-02

Senior Center
11-3616-532-00
11-4268-904-01
11-3616-533-00
11-4268-312-00

To amend the 2022 budget to include Discretionary income received 
through September 2021.



BA2022-018 

 
 
BA2022-019 

 
 
BA2022-022 

Bertie County - Building Inspections 3,069.60                 
Automotive Supplies 1,534.80               
Maint & Repairs - Vehicles 1,534.80               

Balanced 3,069.60                 3,069.60               

Justification:

Account Number Account Description
 Revenue 

(Inc+/Dec-) 
 Expense 

(Inc+/Dec-) 

Building Inspections
11-3839-914-00
11-4350-251-00
11-4350-353-00

To amend the 2022 budget for Building Inspections to include revenue for 
services provided to Bertie County.

Capital Outlay (6,500.00)             

Capital Outlay - HVAC 6,500.00               

Balanced -                           -                         

Justification:

Account Number Account Description
 Revenue 

(Inc+/Dec-) 
 Expense 

(Inc+/Dec-) 

Elections
11-4170-510-00

AG Building
11-4245-550-01

To amend the 2022 budget to include the HVAC replacement for the AG 
Building that was originally budgeted in Elections.  Monies are being 

transferred between line items, no additional funding requested.



 
 
Commissioner McLaughlin moved to approve the budget amendments as presented. Chair Kirby 
asked for all in favor, the motion passed unanimously (7-0). 
 
Financial Report - September 
Ms. Smith presented the financial report, a copy of the report is in the meeting file labeled 
November 1, 2021. 
 
Update on JA Holmes Highschool Project Expenses 
Ms. Smith presented the updated project expenses, a copy of the report is in the meeting file 
labeled November 1, 2021. 
 
External Board/Committee Report 
Chair Kirby asked that Board members report on the activities of the external boards to which 
they have been appointed. There were none. 
 
Manager’s Report 

County Manager Kevin Howard will update the Board on any pending matters. 
 
Boys and Girls Club raised garden beds – Mr. Howard reported that the group has been 

working with COA and has located an alternate location on the campus that is behind the two 
story building to locate the beds. He stated the beds will be installed by volunteers and cleaned 
up when no longer in use. 
 
Timely and Important Matters 
 
Tennis Courts 
Commissioner Kehayes reported that the Board is receiving emails about the tennis court closure 
at the high school during the new construction. 
 
Commissioner Cummings noted that the Northern Chowan Community Center has tennis courts. 
 

Salaries - Regular (25,000.00)           
Professional Services 25,000.00             

Balanced -                           -                         

Justification:

To amend the 2022 budget for DSS to include additional services from 
Hiner and Twiford Law Firms.  Monies are being transferred between line 

items, no additional funding requested.

DSS
12-5310-121-00
12-5310-199-00

Account Number Account Description
 Revenue 

(Inc+/Dec-) 
 Expense 

(Inc+/Dec-) 



Chair Kirby noted that the construction timeline is controlled by the Board of Education and that 
concern should be send to the Board of Education. 
 
Adjourn 
Being no further business Commissioner McLaughlin moved to adjourn the meeting. Chair 
Kirby asked for all in favor, the motion passed unanimously (7-0). 
 
 
 
_______________________________________  ______________________________ 
Bob Kirby, Chairman      Susanne Stallings, Clerk 

 

 

 


